# 2011-CA-00350 T

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

Pursuant to Rule 28(a)(1) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, the undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. The representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Sierra Club
- 2. Robert B. Wiygul, Attorney for Sierra Club
- 3. Mississippi Public Service Commission
- 4. Shawn Shurden, Attorney for Mississippi Public Service Commission
- 5. Mississippi Power Company, Inc.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Miss. Code Ann. 77-3-59 mandates that all findings of the Public Service

  Commission "shall be supported by substantial evidence presented and shall be in

  sufficient detail to enable the court on appeal to determine the controverted

  questions presented, and the basis of the commission's conclusion" (emphasis

  supplied). The court below found that, with respect to Mississippi Power Company's

  proposed \$2.8 billion Kemper power plant, "the Commission's orders lacked specific

  findings concerning the balancing of risks through the conditions it specified as

  necessary for a certificate of public convenience and necessity to issue . . ." Was it

  legal error for the court below to nonetheless find that the existence of a voluminous

  factual record meant that the Commission's findings could not be reversed, despite the

  lack of specific findings on the key issue in its decision?
- 2. Did the court below err in stating, without any specific references to the record, that the record supported the decision to issue a certificate for the \$2.88 billion Kemper Power Plant and allow a 20% cost overrun, when Mississippi Power's own testimony showed that with a 20% cost overrun there was a cheaper alternative for ratepayers?
- 3. Did the court below apply an incorrect legal standard in accepting Mississippi Power Company's argument that the Public Service Commission need only make an "ultimate fact finding" in the form of a statement that the relevant statutory standard had been met, without making any underlying findings of fact on the record?
- 4. Did the Court below err in finding that the testimony of Dr. Craig Roach supported the Commission's finding that Mississippi Power could be granted an additional \$480 million in cost overruns on the Kemper Plant and the plant would still be the best deal for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> R. Ex. 2, pp 19-20.

the ratepayer, when Dr. Roach's testimony in fact said nothing of the kind, and when Mississippi Power's own evidence demonstrated that a \$480 million cost overrun would make a natural gas fired power plant a better alternative for the ratepayer?

- 5. Whether the Court below erred by taking on the role of finder of fact, since it both stated that the Commission's orders "lacked specific findings concerning the balancing of risks it specified as necessary for a certificate of public convenience and necessity to issue," and also stated, without reference to any specific part of the record, that "the Commission's findings . . . adequately address the risks to ratepayers."
- 6. Whether it was arbitrary and capricious for the PSC to allow MPC early recovery of costs, without having before it any of the factual evidence the Commission had previously stated was necessary for a decision.
- 7. Whether the Public Service Commission erred in failing to rule on a request that the rate impacts of the Kemper plant and other information be made public during the course of the proceeding at the PSC.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. NATURE OF THE CASE AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

A. The Public Service Commission's Decision and Reversal of that Decision on the Kemper Power Plant

This appeal is from the decision of a divided Mississippi Public Service

Commission to grant a certificate of public convenience and necessity (the "Certificate")

to MPC's proposed Kemper County lignite-fired electric generating facility ("the

Kemper plant" or sometimes just "Kemper").<sup>2</sup> The Commission's split decision was

originally appealed to the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, under the

terms of Miss. Code Ann. 77-3-67.

The Kemper plant is one of the most expensive single projects of any kind ever to be built in the state of Mississippi. As of December 2009 Mississippi Power estimated the price tag at \$2.7 billion dollars, not including a number of other necessary capital costs.<sup>3</sup> Although federal subsidies could reduce the capital cost by about \$300 million, according to the evidence at the hearing, building Kemper will raise power bills in Mississippi Power's service area by as much as 45%.<sup>4</sup> Under the Mississippi statute called the Baseload Act, the ratepayer will have to start footing the bill before the plant produces one bit of electricity. This plant will very quickly become "too big to fail," as the dissenting commissioner put it.

As the Commission itself found, Kemper is also is a risky proposition for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As the court is aware, the very professional work of the Public Service Commission staff has allowed the record in this matter to be submitted in digital form. The citations in this brief are primarily to two of the composite digital files in the Commission record, the Final Pleadings File – Public, and the Final Transcript – Public. These are abbreviated to "FP-P" and "Commission Tr." respectively. The documents required by the appellate rules, as well as a few key documents from the Commission records, are included the Record Excerpts submitted with this brief. These are generally referenced in the brief as "R. Ex." The transcript of the hearing in the Chancery Court is referenced as "Chancery Tr."

<sup>3</sup> FP-P 023436.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Response to Entegra Data Request 3-3a (designated confidential).

environmental and financial reasons. The plant's \$2.7 billion cost estimate assumes that everything goes exactly according to plan, and that costs do not increase. Yet at the time of Commission approval, no more than 10% of the construction cost of the plant was actually fixed.<sup>5</sup> Moreover, the plant's economic projections depend on multiple controversial predictions regarding the future price of natural gas, whether carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions are taxed, whether there is a market for captured CO2, the cost for mining lignite, and maintenance costs for the plant. Committing the ratepayer to the enormous capital cost of Kemper effectively eliminates the opportunity to respond to changing conditions later.

After considering a year's worth of evidence from a range of interested parties, in an April 29, 2010 order, all three Commissioners found that – in the Commission's own words - there was *no evidence* to support a finding that Kemper, in the form proposed by MPC would serve the public convenience and necessity.<sup>6</sup>

Two commissioners went on to find, however, that Kemper could be approved if Mississippi Power committed to cap expenditures for construction costs at \$2.4 billion.<sup>7</sup> However, in finding that the plant should be approved at a cost of \$2.4 billion, the two Commissioners did not make the necessary underlying factual findings on likely natural gas prices or other risks associated with the Kemper plant.

The two Commissioners also denied MPC's request for early recovery of costs under the statute called the Baseload Act, finding that MPC failed to provide adequate information to allow a decision.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Commission Tr. 1138.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> FP-P 029535.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> FP-P 029664.

<sup>8</sup> FP-P 029573

Commissioner Brandon Presley dissented from the decision to permit Kemper. In his dissent, Commissioner Presley detailed the reasons that the evidence did not support building the Kemper plant at all, at any cost or under any rate regime.<sup>9</sup>

On May 26, 2010, less than one month after the initial order, the two Commissioners in the majority reversed themselves at the request of Mississippi Power, and without any new evidence, allowed Mississippi Power an additional 20% cost overrun, or *four hundred eighty million dollars* (\$480,000,000) on the Kemper plant. <sup>10</sup>

In addition, without any new evidence, the two commissioners also allowed the Company to pass on financing costs beginning in 2012, before the plant is even completed.<sup>11</sup> Commissioner Brandon Presley again dissented.<sup>12</sup>

#### B. The Chancery Court's Decision

After some initial procedural wrangling over whether this Court had exclusive jurisdiction, the Sierra Club's appeal proceeded in the Chancery Court for Harrison County. A briefing schedule was set, and oral argument was held on February 14, 2011.

On February 28, 2011, the Chancery Court issued its decision. The lower court recounted the factual background of the matter as set out in the Commission's orders, and the factual reversals between the April and May orders. As set out in more detail later in this brief, the court below found that the Commission did not make any specific findings to support its decision that the Kemper Plant was best for ratepayers, but that the decision nonetheless had to be upheld because the Commission had compiled a large factual record. This appeal followed from that decision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> FP-P 029585, et seq.

<sup>10</sup> FP-P 029794

<sup>11</sup> FP-P 029802-03

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> FP-P 029820.

#### II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED

#### A. The Proposed Kemper Plant

On January 16, 2009, Mississippi Power filed its Petition with the Public Service Commission seeking a certificate of public convenience and necessity for a 582 MW Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle ("IGCC") power plant to be located in Kemper County, Mississippi.<sup>13</sup> The Kemper plant consists of two major systems: (1) a gasification island that would manufacture synthesis gas, CO<sub>2</sub>, ammonia and sulfuric acid, using lignite, and (2) a combined cycle unit that generates electricity fueled by either the synthesis gas or natural gas.<sup>14</sup> No plant of this kind and scale has ever been built in the U.S.<sup>15</sup>

The Kemper plant proposes to use lignite from a 12 square mile strip mine located adjacent to the plant.<sup>16</sup> The plant would be a demonstration project for a new type of Integrated Combined Cycle Gasification (IGCC) technology called "TRIG," never before used at a commercial scale.<sup>17</sup> In essence, the technology would take large amounts of extremely low heating value lignite and turn it into a gas, which is then used to power a combined cycle turbine, which in turn powers a generator.<sup>18</sup>

Mississippi Power contends that it will capture the majority of the carbon dioxide associated with the burning of the gasified lignite, and claims that it would sell the CO2 to unidentified oil companies who would then sequester it in unidentified geological formations as part of an "enhanced oil recovery" process. <sup>19</sup> The revenues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> FP-P 000010.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Commission Tr. 1252.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> E.g., Commission Tr. 1216-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Commission Tr. 1203.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Commission Tr. 1216-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> FP-P 002375-77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Commission Tr. 1332-35; FP-P 000010-11.

from these so-called "byproduct sales" are critical to the finances of the plant, with a predicted net present value of \$787-850 million.<sup>20</sup>

The Kemper plant itself will produce about 820 megawatts of power. However, not all of that will go to customers. Only 582 MW (71%) will be available to ratepayers and 237 MW (29%) will be needed to run the various parts of the plant, including the equipment to capture CO2.<sup>21</sup>

#### B. The Commission Hearings

1. MPC Argues That Kemper Cannot Be Built If the Certificate Is Not Issued by August 2009

Mississippi Power Company initially submitted an order to the Public Service

Commission insisting that a hearing on the Kemper plant be held in June, 2009, and with
a final order issued in August, 2009.<sup>22</sup> In a March 5, 2009 letter, the attorneys for the

Company reiterated this demand. According to this letter, if the Commission did not
approve Kemper on the schedule MPC demanded, the Company could not commit to
purchases of major pieces of equipment, which would lead to higher costs and result in
the loss of over \$100 million in federal investment tax credits. <sup>23</sup> Mississippi Power
sounded a similar theme throughout the hearing process in the PSC, arguing that Kemper
was not financially feasible without federal subsidies comprising about 10% of the capital
cost of the project.<sup>24</sup>

The Commission did not accept MPC's schedule, but set out a schedule providing for exchange of information, submission of testimony, and several weeks of hearings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> FP-P 02834.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Commission Tr. 1254-1256.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> This order does not appear to be in the record.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> FP-P 001300.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> E.g. Commission Tr. 560 ("highly unlikely" that project would move forward without federal funding).

The Commission established a hearing schedule that divided the hearings into two phases, the first addressing need for generation capacity, and the second addressing how that need could potentially be met.

## 2. The Phase I Hearing on Need

Phase I was held on October 5-9, 2009, with the following defined purpose:

In Phase One, the Commission will establish a reasonable range of forecasts of customer load and a census of existing and likely resources. The Commission also will take into account the likely results of demandside initiatives (e.g., rate design and energy efficiency programs) currently in place. At the close of Phase One, the Commission will determine whether there will exist a gap between forecasted load and resources, and if so, when that gap will appear. If a need is determined in Phase One, the Commission will proceed to Phase Two.<sup>25</sup>

By order dated November 9, 2009, the Commission found that Mississippi Power had shown that there would be a need for additional generating capacity in 2014 ranging from 304 to 1276 megawatts. The need would arise primarily from Mississippi Power's decision to retire some old natural gas fired generation facilities, and the possibility that some other coal fired generation facilities might be retired due to new pollution restrictions.<sup>26</sup>

It is important to understand that the PSC did *not* find that the lights would go out somewhere if additional power plants were not built by 2014. Mississippi and adjacent states have plenty of capacity to generate electricity, and power can be readily purchased on the open market through short or longer term contracts.<sup>27</sup>

The Commission's Phase I finding is not at issue in this appeal.

<sup>26</sup> FP-P 018997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> FP-P 011305.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> E.g., FP-P 014806, 023823-24.

#### 3. The Phase II Hearing on the Means Available to Meet the Need

Based on its Phase I finding, the Commission went on to hold Phase II of the proceeding, to assess ways – including Kemper – to meet that need.

The Commission identified the purpose of Phase II as follows:

Phase Two will address what resources are available to meet the need determined in Phase One, and what are the likely costs of those resources. Resources include, but are not limited to, utility-built resources, purchased power (including power purchased through competitive bidding), and demand-side resources. Parties may propose alternatives to meet the need established in Phase One.<sup>28</sup>

The Phase II hearing was held on February 1-5, 2010. Significant parts of the hearing – including those dealing with rate impacts - were designated confidential and closed to the public.<sup>29</sup>

One of the Commission's consultants rather aptly framed the possible outcomes of the Phase II hearing as "Kemper now, Kemper maybe, Kemper never." The Kemper proposal's financial feasibility and comparison to alternatives is dependent on a large number of major economic and technical assumptions which are unique to the project, and each of which presents its own risks. By contrast, purchase power agreements or a self-build natural gas option are subject to one main variable: natural gas prices. This aspect of the hearing was summed up by Dr. Craig Roach, a utility expert hired by the Commission to assist it as an Independent Evaluator of the issues in the Kemper proceeding, "... what you're doing if you build Kemper, you're just legitimately making a bet that natural gas prices will be above a certain level. If they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> FP-P 019101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> E.g., Commission Tr. 364-402.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Commission Tr. 1839.

don't turn out to be that way, then rates could be higher than they would have been had you stuck with gas."<sup>31</sup>

The key factual issues in the hearing revolved around these issues of fuel cost, operational reliability, and other costs. These included different projections regarding natural gas prices, <sup>32</sup> different alternatives be compared using different scenarios for future carbon emission costs<sup>33</sup> The capital cost of Kemper versus other, less risky alternatives was a key issue. Sub-issues under this heading included whether MPC would make any commitments regarding the cost of the Kemper plant, whether MPC had firm commitments for the cost of key items, and whether ratepayers should receive protection from cost increases.

As part of the Phase II hearing process, the Commission invited other parties to submit proposals to supply the electric generation need identified in Phase I. These proposals were to be submitted less than one month later, on December 7, 2009.<sup>34</sup>

Despite the short time frame, three bids were submitted by the operators of independent natural gas powered generating plants.<sup>35</sup>

As part of the hearing preparation process, the parties carried out document and data exchanges. At the insistence of Mississippi Power Company, the Commission designated the information regarding the actual rate impacts of the Kemper plant as confidential.<sup>36</sup> The Sierra Club moved to have this information made public, but the Public Service Commission never took any action on this motion.<sup>37</sup> As a consequence,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Commission Tr. 1603.

<sup>32</sup> FP-P 019018.

<sup>33</sup> FP-P 019018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> FP-P 019017

<sup>35</sup> FP-P 024092, 24753, 24854.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> MPC Reponse to Integra Data Request 4-4a (filed confidentially).

<sup>37</sup> FP-P 18948

the very persons who will have to pay for the Kemper plant have never been told the actual rate impacts of the plant. This Commission failure prevented the public from fully participating or being informed of the impacts of the Kemper plant.

Dr. Roach, the Commission's independent evaluator, prepared comparisons of the Kemper plant and the proposals submitted by other parties. Understanding Dr. Roach's analyses, and what they did and did not cover, is critical to this appeal. Dr. Roach's testimony at pages 1882-89 of the PSC Phase II hearing transcript is the sole support cited by the Commission for allowing Mississippi Power an extra \$480 million in cost overruns, when there was, according to Mississippi Power's own testimony in the Anderson table, a cheaper option available.

Dr. Roach supplied a report evaluating the relative costs of bid submissions of the Independent Power Producers and the Kemper plant considering differing combinations of natural gas prices, CO2 prices, and possible strategic preferences by the Commission.<sup>38</sup> Dr. Roach's report made it clear that evaluating the Kemper proposal against alternatives would require that the Commission make strategic choices. For example, "[t]here is no analytic or business reason to require all options to offer a forty-year solution. The proper time horizon is a matter for the Commission to decide.....the Commission's choice of a time horizon – ten or twenty years on the one hand and forty on the other – has a lot to do with which option is said to offer the best deal to Mississippi ratepayers."<sup>39</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> FP-P 28912; R. Ex. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> FP-P 28148 – 28190

The comparisons of Kemper and the proposals submitted by the Independent Power Producers were summarized in a series of 29 tables. 40 Dr. Roach *did not* compare the Kemper plant to the option of having Mississippi Power itself build a natural gas fired power plant. As we have noted, Mississippi Power itself prepared a comparison of the Kemper plant to the "self-build option" and determined that at a 20% cost overrun – the same size overrun that the Commission approved after reversing its initial decision – the Kemper plant was the worst choice for the ratepayer in the most likely future scenarios.

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