STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. NATURE OF THE CASE 

This is an appeal from the Judgment of the Harrison County Chancery Court, First 

Judicial District, affirming the Mississippi Public Service Commission's ("Commission") Final 

Certificate Order issued on June 3, 2010, in MPSC Docket No. 2009-UA-014, granting 

Mississippi Power Company ("MPC" or the "Company") a certificate of public convenience and 

necessity authorizing, inter alia, the construction and operation of MPC's proposed baseload 

electric generating plant known as the Kemper County Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle 

Project (the "Kemper Project"). The Commission's Final Certificate Order represents the 

ultimate findings of the Commission and incorporates several interim orders issued throughout 

the proceeding and the many findings of fact and conclusions reached therein. Of the twelve 

different parties in the case, the Sierra Club is the sole appellant. 

The Sierra Club does not and cannot allege that the evidentiary record is insufficient to 

support the Commission's decision. Since the passage of the 1956 Public Utility Act (the 

"Act"), no other proceeding in the history of the Commission has ever been developed so 

thoroughly, investigated so carefully, challenged so vigorously, and analyzed so thoughtfully 

before a decision was rendered. The record, containing over 30,000 pages (including 

approximately 2,500 pages of hearing transcript) reflects the importance of the Kemper Project 

to MPC, its customers, and in many respects the State's and Nation's future use of coal-based 

generation. 

The weight of evidence in the record supporting the Commission's decision is 

overwhelming, and to challenge the record directly would be absurd. Instead, the Sierra Club 

ignores clear Supreme Court precedent and alleges the Commission's orders fail to provide 

enough detail on several secondary issues to support the Commission's ultimate conclusion that 
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the Kemper Project as approved satisfies the "public convenience and necessity." The Sierra 

Club also claims that the Commission acted arbitrarily when amending its May Order to increase 

the cost cap from $2.4 billion to $2.88 billion, despite the clear statutory authority and substantial 

evidentiary support to do so. 

In reality, the Sierra Club has no other choice politically but to challenge the 

Commission's decision for the simple fact that it will allow another coal plant to be built in this 

country. Such an outcome "flies in the face" of the Sierra Club's stated political goals and 

objectives-to kill every coal plant regardless of circumstances. l They are certainly entitled to 

their view, but they are not the policy makers for the State of Mississippi.2 

The Sierra Club's approach, which has proved successful in other parts of the country, is 

to attack coal-based generation at the policy level, at the regulatory level, and where necessary, 

in the courts. In doing so, the Sierra Club often rides the coattails of other stakeholders when 

convenient, such as advocating for the consumer by claiming coal will cause price hikes or 

disguising itself as a protector (or at least representative) of the public interest at large. Make no 

mistake; the Sierra Club is not a consumer advocate. In fact, the Sierra Club readily admits that 

its primary objective is to make fossil fuel use so expensive that other significantly more 

expensive energy sources become economic and more widely adopted, to the overall economic 

detriment of utility customers and the public at large. 

With respect to the Kemper Project, the Sierra Club's approach was no different from its 

many attacks on other coal plants. The Sierra Club accurately positions the Kemper Project as a 

I See generally http://www.sierraclub.org/coall. 

2 Of the Sierra Club's 646,416 members nationwide, only 1,237 active members reside in the 
State of Mississippi (total population of almost 3 million). R. at 012734. Only SOl of the Mississippi 
members even reside in the 23 counties partially served by MPC. R. at 012735. Even assuming all 501 
members were MPC customers, they would represent only a tiny fraction of the 186,000 retail customers 
currently served by MPC. R. at 000010. 
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significant and important endeavor for MPC's customers, Kemper County, our State and, indeed, 

the Nation. Such endeavors, however, are rarely undertaken (and never with the assistance of 

public funds) without an exhaustive review, evaluation, and approval process from both private 

and public stakeholders representing a broad array of interests and expertise. Several dozen 

goverrunental approvals are required before the Kemper Project will generate one megawatt of 

electricity or mine the first ton of Mississippi lignite-many of these approvals were required 

before construction commenced. The Sierra Club intervened and actively participated in many 

of those proceedings, including the Commission's certificate proceeding, in an attempt to 

persuade the governing body that approving the Kemper Project was not the right policy choice. 

But the Sierra Club refuses to take "no" for an answer. Having lost its political battle with every 

policy arm of federal, state and local goverrunent/ and its regulatory battle before the 

Commission, it now turns to this Honorable Court to stop the Kemper Project by misconstruing 

(or ignoring) the substantial evidence in the record, the standards governing Commission 

decisions, and the standard of review applicable to this Court in reviewing those decisions. 

Under Mississippi law, the Sierra Club properly has a difficult task on appeal. As the 

appellant, the Sierra Club bears the burden of proof in this appeal. This burden is made more 

difficult, because this Court has long recognized the Commission's unique expertise in utility 

matters and, as a result, provides great deference to Commission decisions. This deference is 

heightened in policy matters such as granting a certificate. As the ultimate trier of fact, all 

J The Sierra Club has attacked every effort to build Kemper since its inception. For example, the 
Sierra Club unsuccessfully opposed the passage of the Baseload Act by the Mississippi Legislature, the 
DOE's National Environmental Policy Act review of the Kemper Project, the Mississippi Department of 
Environmental Quality's issuance of a PSD air permit, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Water 
Certification and, finally, the Commission's grant ofa certificate of public convenience and necessity. It 
should also be noted that the Sierra Club has now requested an injunction against all federal support for 
the Kemper Project from the Federal District Court for the District of Columbia in the hopes that by 
somehow delaying the incentives, construction of the Kemper Project will halt and the Project will be 
cancelled. This most recent tactic makes abundantly clear that the Sierra Club cares little about 
Mississippi or MPC's customers and only about its national political agenda to "kill coal." 
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Commission final orders are to be considered presumptively valid. As explained in this brief, the 

Commission's various orders issued in this proceeding are supported by substantial evidence in 

the record and contain findings of fact that more than adequately satisfy the requirements of the 

law, as previously interpreted by this Court and faithfully followed in Commission practice. 

MPC submits that the Sierra Club cannot meet its difficult burden in this case, and we 

respectfully request that this Court affirm the decisions of the Commission and the Chancery 

Court. 

II. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS 

MPC's decision to pursue the Kemper Project was the result of an extensive Integrated 

Resource Planning ("IRP,,)4 process that was authorized by the Commission in 2006 and 

spanned a total of three years. 5 During this exhaustive process, MPC evaluated several self-build 

generation alternatives, including nuclear, pulverized coal, natural gas combined cycle, and 

natural gas combustion turbine. In addition, MPC submitted two separate requests for proposals 

("RFPs") to independent power producers ("IPPs,,)6 asking for bids to evaluate the cost of 

4 IRP is a utility industry tenn used to describe a periodic planning process that is undertaken by a 
utility to detennine the long-tenn supply and demand needs of the utility. MPC's IRP is conducted 
annually and is the fundamental planning tool used to ensure that the Company's customers continue to 
receive reliable service at the lowest practical cost through a diverse mix of resources. MPC's IRP 
involves the evaluation of many planning criteria including the scheduled and potential retirement dates 
of existing units, expected future customer load growth, fuel price risk, environmental regulation 
requirements, demand side management opportunities, and available new resource technologies. 

5 See the Commission's Orders approving MPC's Generation Screening and Evaluation Process. 
R. at 029980-86, R. at 030005-10, R. at 030032-38. It is also important to note that this filing was not the 
Commission's first look at the need for electric generation in the State. As required by Miss. Code Ann. 
§ 77-3-14, the Commission periodically surveys the availability and need for new generation. The most 
recent proceeding was held in the summer of 2008, just prior to MPC's Certificate Filing. See generally 
MPSC Docket No. 2008-UA-477. 

6 IPPs own and operate "merchant" electric plants all over the country and are essentially 
unregulated by federal and state commissions, because they do not sell electricity to end consumers. 
Instead, they sell electricity in the unregulated "wholesale market" to other public utilities such as MPC. 
These transactions can be as short as a couple of hours and as long as 10 or 20 years. Four different IPPs 
intervened in the Kemper case, three of which ultimately provided mUltiple offers to sell power to MPC 
and none of which appealed the Commission's decision. 
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electric power on the wholesale purchase power market. 7 MPC's evaluation of self-build and 

market alternatives concluded that the Kemper Project was the most economic alternative and 

best addressed the significant strategic considerations and risks facing MPC and its customers 

over the next several decades. Therefore, on January 16, 2009, MPC filed with the Commission 

requesting a certificate of public convenience and necessity authorizing the construction and 

operation of the Kemper Project and approval of a cost recovery plan consistent with the 

authority provided under the Baseload Act. 8 

The Commission's and Mississippi Public Utilities Staffs ("Staff,)9 review of the 

Company's Certificate Filing was thorough and unprecedented. The Commission and the Staff 

separately retained expert consultants to assist them in independently evaluating MPC's filing 

and to participate in the investigation and hearings. 

On behalf of the Commission, the National Regulatory Research Institute, through its 

principal, Scott Hempling, Esq., participated as an advisor to the Commission. In addition, 

Boston Pacific, Inc. ("Boston Pacific"), through its principal, Dr. Craig Roach, was hired by the 

Commission to participate as an independent evaluator and witness. Dr. Roach was tasked to 

review and evaluate the Kemper Project as well as the various other resource proposals 

submitted in Phase Two and to present a written report and testify at the hearings. In this 

capacity, Dr. Roach acted independently of all parties in the proceeding and acted independently 

of the Commission and its advisors. 

7 All of this analysis was conducted prior to the Commission's subsequent RFP and independent 
economic analysis that was performed in Phase Two of the Kemper proceeding. 

8 Codified at MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 77-3-101 et seq. (Rev. 2009). 

9 The Staff is an independent public body separate from the Commission that is generally charged 
with assisting the Commission and balancing the interest of public utilities and the public. See generally 
MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 77-2-1 et seq. (Rev. 2009). 
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The Staff actively participated in the proceeding through its Litigation Section. The 

Litigation Section hired Economic Insights to assist in the Staff s review of Phase One and 

Larkin & Associates to assist in the Staffs audit of the Kemper Project costs in Phase Two. 

Those members of the Staff not assigned to the Litigation Section were led by the Executive 

Director of the Staff and were designated as advisors to the Commission (i.e. not parties in the 

case), working closely with Mr. Hempling and the Commissioners. 

Throughout the 16 months of proceedings before the Commission, extensive discovery 

and full participation was afforded all of the intervening parties. Over 1,000 separate data 

request responses (many containing subparts) were exchanged between and among the parties, 

all of which were submitted into the record. A number of intervenors including the U.S. 

Department of Energy ("DOE"), Mississippi Attorney General's Office, the Sierra Club and four 

IPPs also provided testimony, briefs and other documentation. Finally, many letters, emails, 

phone calls and hearing comments were received from the public. 

To facilitate the evaluation and investigation of MPC's Certificate Filing, the 

Commission established a two phase procedural schedule. Phase One was designed to evaluate 

MPC's IRP and determine whether there was a need for additional generation, and if so, when 

that need would appear. Phase Two was designed to address what resources are available to 

meet the need determined in Phase One, and to identify the likely costs to customers of each of 

those resources. The results of this survey were to be used by the Commission to determine 

whether it should approve or deny the construction ofthe Kemper Project. 

Following five days of evidentiary hearings, the Commission issued its Order Finding 

Need for Generating Capacity and Energy ("Phase One Order"), which found that "the evidence 

presented by the parties in this proceeding indicates that MPC has a capacity need beginning in 
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2014 under all sixteen scenarios"! 0 and that "the public convenience and necessity requires or 

will require additional generating capacity and energy to serve MPC's customers."!! No party 

disputed or challenged the Commission's conclusions regarding need and the Phase One findings 

are not at issue in this appeal. 

Phase Two was designed to evaluate the Kemper Project and other resources available to 

meet the need determined in Phase One, and to identify the likely risks and costs to customers of 

each of those resources so as to determine whether the Kemper Project should be constructed. In 

addition to the Kemper Project, three different IPPs submitted a total of 19 alternative resource 

proposals. Importantly, the Sierra Club failed to propose any alternative to the Kemper Project 

in Phase Two. The same 16 scenario matrix!2 used in MPC's Phase One IRP was used by the 

Company to evaluate the relative economics of the Kemper Project versus the IPP bids. In 

addition, each proposal was evaluated by the Commission's independent evaluator, Boston 

Pacific. 

The results of the Company's evaluation demonstrated convincingly that the Kemper 

Project best addresses the key strategic considerations of physical need, economic need and risk 

mitigation, and is the dominant economic solution across an overwhelming majority of the 

10 R. at 019011. Also provided in Tab 1 ofMPC's Record Excerpts. 

11 R. at 019012. Also provided in Tab 1 ofMPC's Record Excerpts. 

12 To properly analyze both MPC's physical and economic needs and the risks associated with 
various resource alternatives, MPC's IRP and economic evaluations consisted of a sophisticated modeling 
and planning process that evaluated 16 individual, internally consistent scenarios. The IRP modeled the 
relative impact of gas prices (i.e. low, moderate, moderate with volatility and high gas price forecasts) and 
carbon compliance costs (i.e. $O/ton, $10/ton, $20/ton and $30/ton) on all of the factors that affect need 
and economics, including MPC's expected load, plant retirements, energy efficiency programs, and 
demand-side management programs. The result of the IRP produced 16 individual, internally-consistent 
outlooks of correlated fuel prices and carbon compliance costs, electricity demand and prices, and 
capacity and energy mixes. This scenario approach was approved and adopted by the Commission and its 
expert Boston Pacific and served as the basis for all of the evaluations conducted in the proceeding and 
the Commission's ultimate decision to grant a certificate to construct Kemper. 
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scenarIOs analyzed. 13 The independent economic analysis conducted by Boston Pacific 

confinned these results when the "fixed gas" bids were appropriately removed from the 

analysis. 14 After volumes of additional pre-filed testimony, another five (5) days of evidentiary

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